# Child Marriage and Teenage Pregnancy in Uganda: A case study of Kasese District

**NOVEMBER 2021** 



Casey Foundation P.O Box 103318, Kampala Uganda https://www.caseyfoundationafrica.org info@caseyfoundationafrica.org +256200900535/+256750640632

### ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

THE CASEY FOUNDATION IS GRATEFUL TO ALL INDIVIDUALS WHO COMMITTED THEMSELVES TO UNDERTAKING THIS SURVEY ON CHILD MARRIAGES AND TEENAGE PREGNANCY IN KASESE DISTRICT, WESTERN UGANDA.

WE ESPECIALLY WOULD LIKE TO THANK MR WALUFU EVANS, TEAM LEADER, FOR ADMINISTERING THE STUDY. MR THEMBO SETH- STUDY COORDINATOR, WHO PUT IN THE EXTENSIVE WORK RECUIRED TO GATHER THE DISPLAYED DATA.

WE EXTEND OUR GRATTUDE TO ALL OF THE INTERVIEWERS WHO TRAVELED ACROSS DIFFERENT COMMUNITIES WITHIN THE DISTRICT, TO COLLECT FERSONAL INPUT FROM THE RESPONDENTS, WE ALSO THANK THE RESPONDENTS, WOLKEN, MEN, GRAT, AND EOY, GA, SWELLAS THE EXTO PROVIDED INSIGHTFUL INFORMATION, WITHOUT WHOM THE STUDY WOLLD NOT HAVE BEEN ACCOMMUNISH.

WE FINALLY THANK THE TEAM RESPONSIBLE FOR ANALYZING AND COMPILING THE DATA GATHERED IN THIS REPORT.

# **LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS**

FGC	Female Genital Cutting
FGM	Female Genital Mutilation
UNICEF	United Nations Children's Fund
UPE	Universal Primary Education
SDSP	Social Development Sector Plan
UNFPA	United Nations Population Fund
CSOs	Civil Society Organizations
COVID-19	Coronavirus Disease of 2019
кар	Knowledge, Attitudes and Practices
LC1	Local Council One
VHTs	Village Health Teams
STDs	Sexually Transmitted Diseases
SRH	Sexual Reproductive Health
SOPs	Standard Operating Procedures
HIV	Human Immunodeficiency Virus
ICRW	International Centre for Research on Women
IEC	Information Education Communication
MoH	Ministry of Health
UBOS	Uganda Bureau of Statistics
UDHS	Uganda Demographic Health Survey

# **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

#### I. INTRODUCTION

Executive summary	1
Introduction	2
The problem of child marriage	3
Situation analysis	5
Teenage pregnancy and child motherhood	7
Consequences of child marriage and teenage pregnancy	7
Impact of child marriage on boys' capabilities	9

#### II. SURVEY

Survey objectives	10
Methodology	10
Data collection	10
Selection of respondents	11
Survey results	12
Qualitative Results	15

#### **III. RECOMMENDATIONS AND WAY FORWARD**

Recommendations and way forward	17
Indicators to monitor progress in ending child marriage	21
Conclusions	24
Appendix 1: Questionnaires used in the study	25
References	27
Annex: stories from Kasese	28

# **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

This survey was conducted in 2021 to assess the practice of, attitudes towards, and gaps in support needed to eliminate child marriage and teenage pregnancy in Kassee district and the nation. Over 400 respondents from different villages across seven administrative units of the district were interviewed, including victums of child marriage and teenage pregnancy as well as community members.

The unrey consists of primary and secondary research findings on hilds manage and tennage pregnomy in the Kasse divirts of Western Uganda. It complet both quantitatives and qualitative data using KAP methodology, and a thorough analysis wave spolers the drivers of the taskes and shows that the main cound factors are poverty, and lack of education and avareness accompanied by the usiting genetic material endities and the second second second second the second sec

### INTRODUCTION

The normalization of child marriage and teenage pregranary is not a recent issue but rather a problem that has been growing for years. Younded in 2020, the Casey Foundation is committed to protecting and safeguarding female addressents against darken pregnancies will remove a significant barrier to global pragers and addressent pregnancies will remove a significant barrier to global pragers and darken and the marriage and its learning pregnancy foundain a beacter understanding of the status and formalities related to these two social issues that threaten young grit.

With the advent of the CCVID-1P pandemic, mary communities have experienced worsning economic and financial conditions. In Uganda, approximately 355:000 teenage programics were reported in 2020, and 19:500 were reported during the first tax moths of 2020 (LUNFR, 2021). Secondary data through media reports and results of this survey indicate that the CCVID-1P pandemic increased the involvement of teenages in uprotected sexual intervorus, giving rise to teenage personancies.

This has been particularly difficult for low-income households. With more free time on hand, children seek other ways to been themaleves accepted and, given their lack of maturity and limited sexual education, these teenagers often find themselves in complicating strategies and and up becoming preparate. (Nose pregnant, many will prevention programs in order to reduce the number of girk experiencing teenage preparacy and child marriage.

The survey attempts to assess the attitudes and factors leading to the continued escalation in the rates of teenoge programs y and child marriage. The survey was conducted from Argant to November 2021 in the district of Nasene, located in Wasten Ulgans uncars were doministrative winds of the district, and the (10) respondents from each village in the selected administrative units of the district, participated in the unrvey. The respondents collectively represented victum of child marriage and teenoge pregnancy, as well as males who are involved in addressing these issues within their community. All interviews were carried out in praces, and all respondents remained anonymous. The survey and its recommendations aim to keep Ugands bulk extension of the providing a sub-forward of them to neach their significant optential.

## THE PROBLEM OF CHILD MARRIAGE

The right for family and marriage is provided for in the Uganda 1995 Constitution, with the age of conserved (minimum legal age) dor marriage) as it at 18 years for both moles and females. (the Republic of Uganda, 1995). Despite the lawlut provision, the radiational practices of child marriage persists among amount whice groups in Uganda. The latter is justified largely by parents as protection of their doughers against premontal size and pregramary. (Nus beging the family display) honor and othering premontal size and pregramary. (Nus beging the family display) honors and othering Narr (2007; 14) ranked Liganda Shi among the top 20 hottpet' counteries for child marriage. In 2012, Uganda van ranked fold manog 26 counters with the highest rates of early marriages, with 46X of girls marrying before 18 years and 12X before 15 years. (World Vuico, 2013).

A neest Population cessus and UNICET-supported study (Amin et al., 2013) position (guarda in the middle of the range, with low 27X of girl angel 13–92 categorized as ever married. Warmer et al. (2013) noted that 10X of 20-24-year-old females were married before the ago of 15, and 40X of 20-24-year-old meals married barge the ago of 15, and 40X of 20-24-year-old works and the second state of the second

The challenge of child marriages, teenage pregnancies, and high levels of girt chocle droposts are closely interfined. Many addisecting this continue to be subjected to marriage at an early age, in marriages arranged by parents, leaving them little discise in either timing of pregnancy or girtling a marriage partice (fibutaremus 2013, for Human Rights Initiative 2012), furthermore, the practice of child marriage perpetuides the intergenerational cycle of poverty and acts as a break in development (intergenerational) cycle of poverty and acts as a break in development (intergenerational) cycle of poverty and acts as a break in development (intergenerational) cycle of poverty and acts as a break in family, and kelp lead her family and exemularly her community out of poverty, evolucions in more encovered to action the fer thilky.

While there have been a number of interventions by government, civil society, development partners, and other stakeholders to address the problem of child marriage in the country, it has remained a major issue undermining girls development and attainment of their full potential in all capability domains (Overseas Development Institute (OD) 2012, 2013).

### THE PROBLEM OF CHILD MARRIAGE (CONTINUED)

Whereas Uganda has committed to addressing all forms of discrimination and conventions and declarations that prohibit such discrimination and vicence Convention and limitation of Vicence Against Wornes (CIAW), the Beijing Platform (Convention and Limitation of Vicence Against Wornes (CIAW), the Beijing Platform Nones, the Convention on the Rights to the Daclaration and Vicence Against Worne; the Convention on the Rights to the Child; the African Chatter on the Rights to Worney and Convention on the Rights that the African Chatter on the Rights and Walfer of the Child (AGWC) amoughter, not much being a core goarding putting in place practical initiatives that explainly protect children from early maining. This gap transitid explane child protection being a core goarding putting in Juace practical initiatives that explainly protect children from early National Vision 2014 - 2020; the National Gender Policy (2007); and other sector policies and threatep plane.

#### SITUATION ANALYSIS

Uganda is home to 5 million child brides. Of these, 1.3 million married before age 15".

# \*\*\*\*

In Uganda, 8.9 million girls aged 10-19, especially those that live in rural areas and among less educated and low-income households, are at risk of harmful practices, including child marriage. Thirty-four percent of women aged 25-49 were married before the age of 18".



The Uganda Constitution sets the age of marriage at 18 years. However, marriage formally or informally before the legal age, known as child marriage, is a common practice across the country. Arranged marriages for adolescent girls without their consent are also common in Uganda, especially in the rural areas (FDH and FHR 2012; Benschops 2002; Benstehya, Muhanguri, and Watson 2015, 2014, MCIS, 2011). Evidence shows that poor health outcomes are associated with child marriage. This includes low nutrition status, high maternal mortality, and increased risk for HIV infection.



Progression to secondary school education is more limited for girls (46.6%) than boys (53.4%) (MoES 2012).

Uganda's adolescent fertility/birth rate is among the highest in the Eastern Africa region – estimated at 134 per 1000 women aged 15-19 years (UBOS 2011).

Reference:

\*United Nations, Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Population Division (2019) \*\*Uganda Demographic and Health Survey (2016)

# SITUATION ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Age at first marriage varies by residence, educational level, wealth quartile, and across the country's different regions: womes gad 2-34 Winnis nurban areas many about two years later than revail women (20 years compared with 17.2 years). The median age at fast montrige in higher around like better docted and live meeth LoS compared to vestern and scoth western (8.1 and 19.9, respectively). However, the fastern and East-Central Ugandan women engage in second relations much earlier (8.3 and 16.2, respectively). Roughly two years later, a UNIPPA (2015) report labout flactional distant providence of dolt marriages is highert in Northen Uganda, Central (325), West Nile (502), Central (41%). Southwest (373), and lowest in Kompala (21%).

Regional differentials in trends by age at first marriage between 2006 and 2011 indicate that, while some regions (Kampala, Northern, and Western) showed a decline in very early marriages (below age 15), others showed either no change or an actual rise in the percentages of women who marry below age 15. In the East-Central region, for instance, the percentage of women who married below the age of 15 rose slightly from 25% in 2006 to 26% in 2011. There was a slightly more consistent downward regional trend percentages of women between ages 15-17, except for the Northern region, where there was an increase from 40% to 45% of women marrying between the ages of 15-17.

Child marriages were reportedly more prevalent in war and conflict situations (internally displaced and refugee camps) (Schlecht, Rowley, and Babirye 2013).

FORCED MARRIAGES WERE REPORTEDLY COMMON IN NORTHERN UGANDA, WHERE YOUNG GIRLS AND WOMEN WERE ABDUCTED AND FORCED INTO MARRIAGE WITH THE REPETS CRIMINARY AND KOMIREMAR 20121



Child marriage is also noted to be a significant contributor to the high levels of teenage pregnancy, fertility, and overall population growth in Uganda (Rutaremwa 2013, UBOS 2011).

# TEENAGE PREGNANCY AND CHILD MOTHERHOOD

Teenage pregnancy has been persistently high over time, with a slight decline from 45% in 1995 to 31% in 2010. 25% in 2006 and 24% in 2011 (1806) 1999; 2001; 2006, 2011) The 2011 UDHS statistics indicate that more than a thref (1978) of women aged 2011 by a 2011 UDHS statistics indicate that more than a thref (1978) of women aged 100 years 2010 UDHS were correctly pregnant. The median cage at 11st birth for women aged 20-49 years has been table over the years ranging between 18,7 in 2006 and 169 years in 2010, varing by region on by undary rafie Callos, Kidenes aboves that gives the result of the state fastering regions in 2005, compared to other regions, with the South-West region having the forwalt (15%), and Caestrah has the second-lowest at 19%. Statistics show patter meltionships between prevery, women's divactation, and teenage pregnancy, with give from the poperts insourced low and with the South-West region baratine from the poperts insourced and with a south-west regions with give from the poperts insourced low and in the selection having tigher rates of howards the south-West (10% and Caestrah (10% and West regelow)).

#### CONSEQUENCES OF CHILD MARRIAGE AND TEENAGE Pregnancy

Child maringa affects all aspects of a child's like and violates children's rights, are recognized globally and nationally. It exposes children, specially grint, to multiple violanziabilities and significantly impacts the development of their capabilities. Child and the special of the special part of the special development of grin, including their education payrhological webleng, and the general development of grin, including their education populations. Livdens hows that depels the Government's support and implementation of Universal Primary Education (UPE) and Universal Secondary Education (URE), which is and of school.

> WOMEN WHO MARRIED BEFORE THE AGE OF 14 WERE LESS LIKELY TO MAKE DECISIONS IN THEIR HOUSEHOLDS COMPARED TO THOSE WHO MARRIED At the Age of 15 or Older. UDRS DATA. RUBIN ET AL. (2003)

# CONSEQUENCES OF CHILD MARRIAGE AND TEENAGE PREGNANCY (CONTINUED)

The UDHS (2006 and 2011) indicate a slightly higher proportion of ever-married women who married before the age of 18 years who had experienced physical violence since age 15 compared to those who married at age 18 or older (UBOS 2006; 2011).

#### GIRLS WHO MARRY YOUNG ENTER INTO INFORMAL UNIONS, WHICH DENY THEM BASIC Protection and social status and lead to isolation with limited support structures (bantedya et al., 2014; schlecht et al., 2013).

Evidence shows that poor health outcomes are associated with child marriage. The poor health outcomes include; low matrition status, high maternal mortality, and increased risk for HIV infection (Rubin et al.,2009). Married women aged 15-24 are five times more likely to have HIV/ADS than those who are not married (Ministry of Health (MCH) and ORC Macro 2006).

#### WOMEN WHO MARRY EARLY ARE LIKELY TO EXPERIENCE PREGNANCY COMPLICATIONS That lead to death or disability - obstructed labor and obstetric fistula (bantebya et al., 2013; schlecht et al., 2013).

Child marriage is closely linked to teenage pregnancies since the young brides are separeted to get pregnant soon atter marriage (MOS2 2011). All of these negatively affect the economic progress of addescent girk in terms of unhealty and less productive human resources and the oncessity for increased health expenditure, Child marriage has implications for fertility and population growth, and the latter, in turn, have negative consequences on economic growth (DMS 2006; 2011).

#### CHILD MARRIAGE HAS IMPLICATIONS FOR FERTILITY AND POPULATION GROWTH, AND The latter, in Turn, have negative consequences on economic growth (uDHS 2006: 2011).

Teenage pregrams, is an indicator of improtected ans and hence exposure to the risk of 14 W indextino. Skinwangs and WMV2 2009, According to the UDHS 2011, about 44.4% of loyar aged 15-19 years in Uganda here already had sexual relations. Addresser with no education (SGS) are more listify to have had as an add to 15-39 years who have even had are, had if of the loyy (50.4%) reported using a contain the last sector during a contain the last sector during a contain the last sector during 275% of the grin (Arini et al. 2015).

# CONSEQUENCES OF CHILD MARRIAGE AND TEENAGE Pregnancy (Continued)

The negative consequences of teenage motherhood are well documented. Evidence shows that addiscent mohers are twice as likely to dis moregranary and delivery complications compared to those who are alder, have high fertility rates and their bables or children ken higher chances of dying (UWCMET 2001; FDH and PHR 2012; Selavangu and Whyte, 2009) in addition, teenage motherhood negatively affect the mather's accordencemonic status and the child because in histing shirt participation in addiscent mothers often segmences stigma, shown, rejection, and accision in their community during reintegration and can become destitude (Wurving, 2011).

# **IMPACT OF CHILD MARRIAGE ON BOYS' CAPABILITIES**

There is limited literature and studies on low child marriage affects yong low, itseware, anacotatal andrease reveals that child marriage negatariay affects lowy' andreavement in different capability domains. And the low of the and takes an install pick to support their yang families (literative) at all 10.01 A scoreling to Liseda (2010), shift amongo allow prevents lowy from distancy an elecation, any any and takes and band and other of their aga. This parphetates the topical of powerts from them of the low of an elecation of the low of the low of the low of the low of the other of the low of the anomal and the low of the low of



# **SURVEY OBJECTIVES**

The Casey Foundation conducted this survey with the objectives below:

- To unpack social norms and identify drivers of child marriage and teenage pregnancy at community, household, and individual levels;
- To make recommendations and define key indicators for monitoring progress in ending child marriage and teenage pregnancy practices in the affected communities;
- To understand who decides when girls should get married; and
- To identify the cultural and social norms that promote child marriage.

#### METHODOLOGY

This evaluation relied on a KAP (forowledge, Attitudes and Practices) methodology and collected both quantitative and equilative data. The KAP approach is a descriptive research method that can be applied to understand the dominant behaviour and attitudes within a community. This methodology has been used in the current tudy to assess the levels of adf-avareness individuals have around pertain and constitute an itak's individuals to cosistly. Me method can alco be applied to understand whether there is aga between attitudes and actions which prevents the development of withold solutions.

The tudy axistants carried out field visits to callect data in villages of the selected daministrative units of the Kasses district. Carey Frondation ensured that the required health measures and CCVID-19 guidelines were followed in order to protect the safety of all participants during the interactions. The tudy axistants ensured that the process was carried out ethically and respondents' information remainde conclential. All respondents were asked to sign a cancent from, and for the minon (below til yearn), their parents or guardian signed on their behalf after the consent form was read and explained to them.

### DATA COLLECTION

Three questionnaires were utilized in this tudy. Coestionnaires were designed for somer/girl responsels, to determine the age of which they got married and their first pregnancy, and to collect information on their perceptions and experiences related to early marrings and tensories pregnancy. Other questions were designed to father, and brothers have the utilizable say when it comes to marriage. The three arrous of respondents in this study area.

- 1.Married women/girls at the reproductive ages of 15-49 years
- 2.Women/girls who experienced teenage pregnancy at the reproductive ages of 15-49 years
- 3.Men from the age of 18-60 years

# **SELECTION OF RESPONDENTS**

This section presents the process used to select participants in the survey. Ten (10) respondents were selected from each village within the sampled administrative areas of the Kasses district to assess the prevalence of child marriage, teenage pregnancy, practices, and community viewpoints in relation to them. The following general groups of respondents urver interviewed from each village for the survey:

-Three (3) females who have been victims of child marriages: Two (2) of ages (15 -17) and one (1) female adult aged (18 - 49), who was married before the age of 18.

-Two (2) female teenagers who have experienced teenage pregnancy at the ages of (15 – 17), along with one (1) female adult of age (18 – 49), who experienced pregnancy at the age of (13 – 19).

Four (4) male community members the ages (18 – 60), one (1) of them was the Local Council one (LC1) chairperson or a member of the LC1 committee. The remaining three (3) are religious leaders, teachers, community leaders, and individuals of sound mind with an understanding of their communities

#### **SURVEY RESULTS**





Of the respondents who reported becoming pregnant, 62% said the pregnancy was the result of an unwanted sexual encounter, pointing out the need to acquire back needs while only 38% said their pregnancy resulted from a desired sexual encounter for pleasure most highlighted the need to saitly their personal back demands.



### SURVEY RESULTS

#### DATA 3

Respondents reported that neither they nor their partners used any method of birth control. Mast of them said that they preferred to have sex without the use of protection for real enjoyment. 74% of respondents said they had no trouble gatting birth control while 26% of respondents said getting birth control was difficult.





Of the respondents who reported becoming pregnant, 76% reported living with their parents at the time they became pregnant while 24% said they were not living with their parents.



# **SURVEY RESULTS**



#### **QUALITATIVE RESULTS**

#### DRIVERS OF TEENAGE PREGNANCY

One of the drivers leading to teenage pregnancy is the lack of sexual education amongst adolescents both in schools and in communities, among others, as stated below:

- · Some girls engage in sex as a means to survive causing them to become pregnant
- Some girls are forced and influenced by their parents to get married causing them to get pregnant when still children
- Girls are not being guided well by parents/caregivers, or guardians.
- Peer pressure
- · Poverty and the need for money to meet needs, poor livelihoods
- Early/forced marriage
- No caretaker or breadwinner
- Poverty and need for necessities, so sexual relations are demanded to obtain essentials from men.
- · Reaching puberty and the urge for motherhood.
- Lack of emphasis on the importance of pursuing education for a self-sufficient future
- Involvement in intimate relationships

#### PREVALENCE OF CHILD MARRIAGE

Understanding the scale of practices on the ground is not an easy task while conducting field survey, expecially with regard to scale phonemen that respondents may field as understable or have a negative effect. Therefore, we stand with induces moved to add directly about the provident age at which first get normal and their personal experimens. Also, a direct question was aiked about the age at which the respondents get merid. Results have that the highest movies of respondents were matrixed at the age of 16 years. There are cause if women whe get married at the age of the scale of the year. There are cause if women whe get married at leage of 17 and 18.

### **QUALITATIVE RESULTS**

As per the survey, the majority of the respondents suggested that implementing the following interventions could work toward addressing the problem of child marriage:

- The fight against child marriage should involve both parents and the community, and the legal systems should punish everyone who is involved with marrying a child.
- Empower out-of-school girls with hands-on activities to earn them a livelihood (support vocational education for girls)
- Support girls' education through the provision of scholarships and loan schemes (support girls to complete secondary education)
- Use of peer education to reach out to the youth Young people advise each other on marriage and pregnancy issues.
- Parents should keep close to their children and provide sexual education, particularly focusing on the dangers of early sex and childbirth.
- Restrict children's mobility limit visits to relatives during holidays and the kind of events they attend.
- Provide guidance and counselling for young people, especially the girls, on sexual and reproductive health issues; - marriage and sexuality, STDs, condom use for those who cannot abstain; family life, and job approtruitites.
- Giving girls advice on menstrual hygiene and sanitary ware would support their retention in school.
- Engage the young people in activities that will keep them occupied, such as drama groups, debate clubs, etc.

#### DRIVERS OF CHILD MARRIAGE

The main reason behind girls' child marriage as stated frequently by respondents is poverty and the need for money since downrise represent an important source of income for some parents as well as the following:

- · Being a girl orphan or the death of the breadwinner
- · Lack of awareness and education among parents on the effects of child marriage
- No access to Education
- Hunger
- Lack of emphasis on the importance of pursuing education
- Reaching puberty: What else are you waiting for... get married.
- Domestic violence
- Lack of sexual education
- · Poverty and need for money (poor living conditions)
- Cultural norms and beliefs
- Dowry greediness
- Rich husband and the beauty of the girl both accelerate the process
- Customs and traditions that nourish the idea of saying "Nothing to be done by women other than getting married"

### **RECOMMENDATIONS AND WAY FORWARD**

It is important to recognize that child marriage is not a one-dimensional issue. It is multi-faceted and there are multiple factors contributing to almost every case encountered during the survey.

To achieve a reduction in the number of child marriages, it's imperative that change takes place at all weeks of scately with the support of both the community and the government. Steps need to be taken to create more efficient communication, cooperation and support between all parties. The statistics displayed throughout this traps of child that Uganda needs to do more add cat immediately to mitigate the control.

This section presents recommendations based on the analysis of the survey data, taking into consideration the viewpoints of interviewees and other community members with a great understanding of their communities consulted during the course of this study.

#### AT THE NATIONAL LEVEL

- Government should put strict regulations on the age group of attendees of dance halls, nightclubs, and music concerts. Children below 18 years of age should not be allowed in these happenings because the nature of content displayed is purely for adults.
- Government should improve Universal Primary Education (UPE) facilities to support the education of girl children. The more the girls stay in school and concentrate, the more child marriage is denied.
- Government should put strict age restrictions on who works in areas like nightclubs, dance halls, and bars. Girls (female children below 18 years) should not work in such risky jobs.
- Ensure effective enforcement of the defilement law and other laws associated with marrying a minor.
- Implement a policy for teenage mothers to return to school that specifies when the
  pregnant girl should be sent away and allowed back to school.
- Strengthen the existing local government structures such as the police, probation office, and community development to implement the laws and programs to end child marriage. The local structures offer great potential for local government leadership and sustainability of programs. However, this demands continuous capacity-building and support to enable them to monitor the programs.

# **RECOMMENDATIONS AND WAY FORWARD (CONTINUED)**

#### AT THE COMMUNITY LEVEL

- Community coalitions which provide activities and program. designed to cob the phenomenon of early marrings about the established. Communities should engage heads of education, headh and endowment officials, guidance offices, tolog principals, local cubrity officials, legal professionade and any other influential coalitions. Program activities that are women-centred and locas on empowerment elements should be prioritized in these communities.
- Community leaders should advocate for the regulation of child marriage with the local authorities. Regulations which should be put in place include compulsory marriage registration and a requirement to provide legal proof of a bride's age by an identification card or birth certificate before the marriage registration can be finalized.
- Communities should approach Imams and other religious leaders and ask them to allocate time during their services to talk about child marriage and its destructive consequences on girls, their families, the nation, and the world.
- Child marriage should be continually monitored and interventions performed as necessary. Communities should cooperate with authorities who have legal arrest power, medical services (reproductive health centre), agencies and specialist involved in child protection such as the Ministry of Gender, Labour and Social Development, civil society organizations, and human rights activits.
- Regarding household poverty, economic/financial topport to improve family livelihoods and enhance the ability to keep children in school is critical. This could include enrolling the specific volherable households in the social protection. Programme, supporting income-generating activities, and provision of grants to grin's divocation - to cover school fees, scholastic moterials, and sanitary ware.
- Provide both in and out of school girls and boys with sexual and reproductive health information to enable them to manage their growing bodies.
- On sexual and gender-based violence, counselling and sensitization should be offered to families to address the causes of violence in families. Parenting sessions should be conducted to enhance parents' skills to handle children's growth and development issues, including skills to communicate more with their children (boys and girk).
- There is a need to engage with parents concerning their responsibilities to children (care, support, and guidance) especially encouraging parents to support their children's education through providing basic necessities and following up on their education and academic progress.
- The community should undertake massive education about laws and policies on children's rights to dispel some of the misinterpretations around these laws. Children should be sensitized about their responsibilities and obligations.
- There should be specific interventions targeting men and boys enlisting their support as partners in ending the practice of child marriage. These may include supporting and encouraging the establishment of boys' and men's clubs and male champions.

# **RECOMMENDATIONS AND WAY FORWARD (CONTINUED)**

#### AT THE COMMUNITY LEVEL

- Examples of success stories of role models should be celebrated, shared, and made more visible to girls and boys to encourage them to raise their aspirations beyond marriage and stay in school. These could form the core system of mentors with mentorship Programmes established in schools and communities.
- There is a need for scaling up sexual and reproductive health education through the school yeture and the expanded work of the Vallage Health team (VHF). However, this requires sensitization of communities to address the social and religious norms and tabloas about imparting sexual information and providing sexual and reproductive health services to girls and boys - in and out of school adolescent.
- Providing technical and vocational education for out-of-school adolescents provides an alternative to ending child marriage. This should be supplemented by other interventions such as integrating skills training in the school curriculum and establishing technical schools in the communities.
- Build the capacity of community, religious and cultural institutions to provide a platform for open discussion and public declarations in communities to end child marriage and teenage pregnancy.

#### EMPOWERING ADOLESCENTS

The establishment of capacity-building and income-generating opportunities is necessary to reduce widepread powerly and deterioring economic and living conditions. Linking advocary and outreach activities focused on the safe age for moringe with meaningful activities, including heath travies, vocational training, loans, and economic empowerment projects, will increase community engagement during the implementation process. Addressent given and power lead periodically to be empowered in a way that allows girls to have more input regarding their reproduction beath and other the hooless such as advaction, work, morriage, and more.

Some general examples of ways to empower young girls and boys include:

- · Educating adolescent girls and boys on sexual and reproductive issues
- · Teaching girls and boys to be agents of change in their community
- Training girls and boys in life skills
- Provide technical and vocational training for those who cannot continue with secondary education

# **RECOMMENDATIONS AND WAY FORWARD (CONTINUED)**

#### EMPOWERING ADOLESCENTS

Casey Foundation recommends the following specific actions in order to Empower Adolescents:

- Introduce adolescent-friendly health consulting services in health facilities or girlor youth-friendly spaces. Schools can be mobilized to provide such spaces.
- Provide skills training for adolescent married girls to support community needs and then seed funding to start small income-generating projects.
- Focus on re-enrolling girls who stopped schooling or dropped out of school through the assistance of teachers and school social workers. Uneducated or undereducated girls are more likely to marry younger than their educated peers, so reintegrating unmarried girls into schools could delay child marriage.

# INDICATORS TO MONITOR PROGRESS IN ENDING CHILD MARRIAGE

Several indicators to monitor progress have been suggested for effective action planning and implementation. The indicators are both quantitative and qualitative Source: Ending Child Marriage and Teenage Pregnancy in Uganda. A Formative Research to Guide the Implementation of the National Strategy on Ending Child Marriage and Teenage Pregnancy in Uganda by UNICEF)

Key focus area	Indicator
SOCIAL NORMS CHANGE	
Social Norms and practices	Definitions of childhood tally with the legal age of a child
	Charges in attitudes and beliefs – about the definition of a child and transition to adulthood -Marriage is no longer the singular ideal for women
	Passage of rites transformed into empowering processes that build girls' and boys' capacities
	Bridewealth made more symbolic
	The extent to which community perception of childhood definition talkes with the legal definition of $\alpha$ child
	Percentage of women 15-49 who have undergone PGM/C
	% of adolescents (gris 0 boys) who believe that it is harmful to get married before the legal age of 35 years
	X of key stakeholders (parents, community leaders, young people) who know about the harms of child marriage
	${\rm X}$ of key stakeholders (parents, community leaders, religious leaders) who oppose the practice of bridewealth
	% of parents who say they will not many off their sons and daughters younger than 18

# INDICATORS TO MONITOR PROGRESS IN ENDING CHILD MARRIAGE (CONTINUED)

STRUCTURAL AND INSTITUTIONAL DRIVERS	
Community level drivers	Control and efficient management of township extertainment verses; bi-laws barning young people below 18 years in video hall beyond 5 pm
	Number of youths in community youth groups for in-school and out of school
	The extent to which public entertainment versus have put in place measures to regulate the access and use by young people $\ensuremath{P}$
	Number of adolescent peers/youth leaders engaged in activities to prevent child marriage in the community
Family/Household	Reduction in household poverty
	Reduction in GBV, alookalium
	X of households living in poverty
	$\mathbf X$ of communities with public activities on child marriage, alcoholism, and GRV prevention
	Parenti' perception of the value of girls' education
	Percentage of families of unmanted adolescent girls who support their doughters staying in or returning to school
Individual	% of adolescents with life skills Level of knowledge about SDH issues – adults and adolescents
	The proportion of adolescent girls and boys who are members of peer groups and clubs that address life skills, protection, and 5894 issues

# INDICATORS TO MONITOR PROGRESS IN ENDING CHILD MARRIAGE (CONTINUED)

PLATFORMS AND INSTITUTIONS	
Legal and policy implementation for affective and efficient delivery of services	X of mee, women, boys, and girls knowledgeable about the laws associated with child marriage
	Policy on girls return to school after pregnancy and childbirth passed with clear guidelines spelling out when pregnant girls should be sent home and return to school
	The proportion of child marriages that were investigated by police/prosecuted by law/resulted in a conviction
	The extent to which policy on schoolgirl pregnancy has been implemented
Community	X of Teenage programacy
Schools	N anoshmant of girls is schools. N dropout rate N completion rate Number of schools accepting re-exerciment of girls alter abilitionth
Religious and cultural leaders	S of religious and cultural leaders campaigning against child marriage and promoting girly education and delayed marriage
Role models advanced as a strategy for ending child marriage	X of role models recruited and actively promoting the end of child marriage and girl's education.
	Number of role models and influential leaders and communicators (traditional, religious, cultural, political) who have made public declarations to end child marriage
Communication for change effected for end of child marriage	Number of communities, and schools, actively using different communication initiatives to end child marriage, promote girls' education, and delayed marriage for bott girls and boys

# CONCLUSIONS

The effect of the Covid-19 pandemic, according to information gathered, show that he pandemic increased the number of causes in relation to bath child manage and testings preparations. This stars due to the relation of an panetometer of the star of the sta

Answers by respondents about child morriage and associated risk indicate that community methods nor ad effectly or indirectly avaire of the scale of the phenomenor/problem. Therefore, when asked about the appropriate aga for majority of respondents replied scaling that the appropriate tags for marriage is at least 24 for beys and 20 for girls. Child marriage is more common in varial areas where me prefer yangs and undecated women or those who resceeded any al life bit of educations. Educated women are perceived by zones to paus a thread or, as someous are easier to manage and control.

The lack of quality education for girls combined with the lack of jobs, training and qualification approximates that improve women's skill and artices their productivity, economic capacities and subsequently their status within their families deepens the landary enteretended community traditions in favour of child marriage for economic ends. Such practices stem from uwravering social norms and belies by community embers who applicated and support manying girls early, claiming that unless married they would continue to pose a burden on their families and may put their families' reputation at table.

When asked why some families many off their daughters early, they rated poverty and the need for morey, greed by rathers or exchange moregange as the main reasons. Additional social factors mentioned were lack of avareness, grin reaching aberty and chastity. These subinitiations in the regaritive social factors, negative attributes and debasement of women within families who value women for their reproductive roles only. Often, grins enan cosmicted before manriage and all they can do is obey orders from their male relatives, such as fathers or brothers, cousins, uncles or grandfathers, who docide for them.

# **APPENDIX 1: QUESTIONNAIRES USED IN THE STUDY**

#### 1.1 For child marriage

Date of interview: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Place of interview: \_\_\_\_\_

Interviewer Name: \_\_\_\_\_\_\_Respondent age: \_\_\_\_\_

Age of sposse (male): \_\_\_\_\_

Language in which the interview was conducted:

At what age do girls usually get married in your community?

At what age did you many? Was this in line with your expectations? Did anyone try to stop you from getting married?

Has anyone provided you with information or guidance on marriage and secuality? If so, wha? What sorts of things did you get information/guidance on? Are they helpful? What else would you like to know more about?

So, why did you marry? Was it out of your will or the will of your family? What is your experience?

Now, what could you do to prevent girls from manying early?

#### 1.2 For teenage pregnancy

Date of interview: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Place of interview: \_\_\_\_\_

Interviewer Name \_\_\_\_\_\_ Respondent age: \_\_\_\_\_

Language in which the interview was conducted: \_\_\_\_\_\_

Is it common for girls in your community to have children before marriage? Do you know of girls who have?

Is this your first pregnancy? If not, what age was your first pregnancy?

Which do you think would be worse for you - getting married at a very early age or getting pregnant without being married?

Do you know of any method of birth control? If yeal Did you have difficulty accessing birth control? Specifically! Did you get any pregnancy prevention information in the past year?

Were you living with a parent/guardian when you became pregnant?

Were you in school when you got pregnant? If Not, have you ever been to school? Up to what level?

Alright, what caused you to be involved in this act that led you to become pregnant?

What can be done to avoid more girls getting pregnant as teenagers?

# **APPENDIX 1: QUESTIONNAIRES USED IN THE STUDY**

#### 1.5 For community leaders & male participation

Date of interview: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Place of interview: \_\_\_\_\_

Interviewer Name: \_\_\_\_\_\_ Respondent age: \_\_\_\_\_

Language in which the interview was conducted:

What communication strategies/approaches/activities are being used to address child marriage and teenage pregnancy in your community? How effectively are they addressing social norms around child marriage and teenage pregnancy?

Who should decide for the girls to get married?

How are you involved in the fight against child marriage and teenage pregnancy in your area?

How is your community involved in the efforts to end child marriage and teenage pregnancy?

How are the offenders involved in the acts of child marriage and adolescent pregnancy treated in your community? Do they face the law?

In your opinion, what causes child marriage and teenage pregnancy in your area?

According to you, what can be done to fight against child marriage and teenage pregnancy in your area?

### REFERENCES

Accelerating Uganda's Development: Ending Child Marriage, Educating Girls (The World Bank)

The Uganda National Strategy to End Child Marriage 2014/2015 - 2019/2020

Country Profile of Phase I: UNFPA-UNICEF Global Programme to End Child Marriage (Uganda)

UBOS (Uganda Bureau of Statistics) (1995) Uganda Demographic and Health Survey. Kampala: Uganda Bureau of Statistics

UBOS (Uganda Bureau of Statistics) (2001) Uganda Demographic and Health Survey. Kampala: Uganda Bureau of Statistics

UBOS (Uganda Bureau of Statistics) (2006). Uganda Demographic and Health Survey. Kampala: Uganda Bureau of Statistics

UBOS (Uganda Bureau of Statistics) (2011). Uganda Demographic and Health Survey. Kampala: Uganda Bureau of Statistics

MGLSD (Ministry of Gender Labour and Social Development) (2007) National Gender Policy, Kampala: The Republic of Uganda

UNICEF (2005) Early Marriage: A Harmful Traditional Practice

UNFPA (2013) Child marriage profile

UWONET (Uganda Women's Network) (2010). Reproductive Rights Survey. Kampala: UWONET

The Republic of Uganda. (1995). The Constitution of Uganda.

#### ANNEX: STORIES FROM KASESE

# Story 1

Jovia grew up in a poor household where there was not enough income to provide steady meals. No one in her family or village had been educated in school, so she had no positive role models to encourage her. Jovia dropped out of school after primary two to earn money. Her boyfriend also provided gifts and food, and she decided to mary him hongina to escape poverty.

Jovia believes that if parents can better provide basic necessities and emotional support for their children to focus on positive aspects of their lives, child marriage will decrease.

# Story 2

Praise was raised with her grandparents because her parents could not provide her with school fees or basic necessities. Unfortunately, they were not attentive to her, and she could do whatever she wanted, ending up pregnant

She believes that Community leaders can help reduce child marriage by educating young girls and boys about the dangers of child pregnancy. She also believes that skills training in tailoring and hairdressing would allow girls to earn money and support themselves without marriage.

Story 3

Bridget's father stopped paying her school fees in senior one because he was unhappy with her academic performance. She stayed at home for one year before she married.

Bridget believes that educating girls to provide for themselves without depending solely on their parents will reduce the incidence of child marriage. If they are taught skills like taloring, piggery, or operating a shop, then if their parents cannot provide for them, they can live their needs.

Story 4

Jennifer's story is all too familiar to us. She dropped out of school because her family could not afford her fess. Without her studies to focus on, she became involved in a sexual relationship and ended up getting pregnant and eventually marked, Jennifer believes that it girls were taught such as hairdressing and talioring, they would be less likely to marry garly.

# Story 5

Alter spent her days as a young girl at home doing domestic chores with her mother because her family could not afford to pay her school fees or buy her necessities like pads, her life lackde excitement and moth her and buy her things like dresses and cosmetics. When she got pregnant, her mother forced her to marry.

Allen believes that the Key to preventing child marriage is to empower and educate girls and families. She believes that if girls are taught skills, such as poutry keeping, they will be in a position where they can sustain themsileves and not need to lock for a man to provide all allo believes that social workers are a advice to both parents and children on how to manage affluit times and continue toward their agols.

### Story 6

Ronet was curious about sex. A handsome and well-behaved man bought her a mobile phone, and she offered to have sex in return to satisfy her urges. As a result, she became pregnant.

Ronet believes that if teenagers are educated in income-generating activities, they will be less dependent on others and will not offer sex in exchange for material things.

Story 7

Livenia's family could not afford to send her to school. She took a job, and at work, she met her boss's son. He bought her many gifts and ademanded sex in return. When she became pregnant, her parents encouraged her to marry.

Livenia believes that teenage pregnancy can be reduced by teaching girls about family planning, empowering them to make decisions about when and who to marry, and providing them with training on income-generating activities so that they can provide for their own needs.

#### Story 8

Martin believes the two of the biggest causes of child marriage and steenage pregnancy are lack of ducation ameriage and steenage pregnancy are lack of ducation and girls about the dangers of teenage pregnancy and the importance of education. He encourages girls to exercise 381-control and have Self-astilem and secrise 381-control and have Self-astilem and family, Martin encourages parents to be good role models and work hard to improve their living conditions. Martin believes that community leaders ublic chout the dangers of their marriage.

Story 9

Tom advocates for the rights of girs through the legal system, the works with police to errets parents who strengthening and more strictly enforcing the laws to prevent child marriage. Tom also holds meetings at school and within the community to discuss the sofety that already left school and marries at a young age, he encourages them to train in work skills so that they can effort in a improve three inversions.

#### Story 10

Julus has seen over 10 cases of child morriage and more than 20 teenage pregnancies in his community over the past year alone. He believes there are many reasons for this including domestic violence, lidentss article and hen labor at home, which results in girls running away. He works to educate his community on the dangers of child mariage and teenage pregnancy whenever he can, especially during school assemblies and parent meetings. Julus hopes that in the future, the government will implement stricter laws and the law and not participate in child mariage.

### Story 11

Robert believes that child marriage and teenage pregnancy will be reduced if parents have more open and hanest discussions with their children. To facilitate this, he works with teens and their parents to educate them on the effects of child marriage and teenage pregnancy. Jies's and advices teens on how to avoid negative influences. Robert hopes that laws will be strengthened in the future to reduce child marriage.

#### Story 12

John has seen that the period of ldieness coused by could-19 has increased the incidence of teenage pregnancy and child marriage. When girls do not have a purpose in life or feel that they are not cared for in the right way, if the couse they are not equicative the what they want. Because they are not equicate in family planning. they often become pregnant.

John believes parents can play the biggest role in ending child marriage and teenage pregnancy. Being a parent means not only providing necessities for your child but encouragement, and wisdow allowing kilds to grow into successful adults. Parents should try to work as hard as they can involve themselves in SACCOS, and even accept loans to pay for school and necessities so that their development and education are for the future.